Wave functions of composite hadron states and relationship to couplings of scattering amplitudes for general partial waves.

F. Aceti and E. Oset

Departamento de Física Teórica and IFIC, Centro Mixto Universidad de Valencia-CSIC, Institutos de Investigación de Paterna, Aptdo. 22085, 46071 Valencia, Spain (Dated: May 30, 2012)

Abstract

In this paper we present the connection between scattering amplitudes in momentum space and wave functions in coordinate space, generalizing previous work done for s-waves to any partial wave. The relationship to the wave function of the residues of the scattering amplitudes at the pole of bound states or resonances is investigated in detail. A sum rule obtained for the couplings provides a generalization to coupled channels, any partial wave and bound or resonance states, of Weinberg's compositeness condition, which was only valid for weakly bound states in one channel and s-wave. An example, requiring only experimental data, is shown for the ρ meson indicating that it is not a composite particle of $\pi\pi$ and $K\bar{K}$ but something else.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Couplings and wave functions in the case of bound states	3
	A. Lippman-Schwinger equation	3
	B. Bound states in the one channel case: wave function in the momentum space	5
	C. Normalization of the wave function	6
	D. Couplings	7
	E. Wave function in coordinate space	8
	F. The meaning of the couplings in terms of wave functions	9
	G. Generalization to coupled channels	9
	H. Couplings in coupled channels	10
	I. Wave functions in momentum space	10
	J. Wave functions in coordinate space	11
	K. Couplings	12
III.	Generalization to open channels	13
	A. Lippmann-Schwinger equation for open channels	13
	B. Wave function in momentum space	13
	C. Wave functions in coordinate space	15
	D. Relation between couplings and wave functions at the origin	16
IV.	The test for the ρ resonance	16
	A. Model for the ρ meson	17
	B. Phenomenological test	19
	C. Test with two channels	20
V.	Conclusions	22
	Acknowledgments	23
	References	23

I. INTRODUCTION

One of the most important issues in hadron spectroscopy is to determine the nature of the different hadronic states, mesons and baryons, which are reported in the PDG [1] and still being found in new facilities like BABAR, BES, CLEO, BELLE, CERN facilities among others. The traditional wisdom that mesons are $q\bar{q}$ states and the baryons qqq states has given room to more complicated structures in many cases, involving more quarks in one way or another [2, 3]. One of the issues that has seen a more spectacular development in this field is the application of chiral dynamics to study the interaction of hadrons. The chiral Lagrangians [4–6] represent an effective approach to QCD at low energies and use the observable mesons and baryons as degrees of freedom, which makes also comparison of prediction with experiment an easy task. However, the perturbation theory made these Lagrangians, Chiral Perturbation theory, χPT , in spite of its spectacular success in dealing with many hadron properties, certainly could not succeed on the problem of spectroscopy, for the simple reason that resonances correspond to poles in the scattering amplitudes but poles cannot be reached in a perturbative expansion. The problem was solved with the advent of the chiral unitary approach [7–18] (see [19] for a review). What is found in the chiral unitary approach is that many known mesons and baryons can be explained as composite states of meson-meson or meson-baryon dynamically generated by the interaction provided by the chiral Lagrangians. An important step forward has been given in recent work on three body systems that show that also many other states can be understood as molecules of two mesons and a baryon [20–22] or three mesons [23, 24].

One of the challenges in this field is to determine from the experimental data the nature of the states as whether they are composite of other stable particles or something different. The pioneer in this work was Weinberg in his well known paper determining that the deuteron was a composite state (bound state from the potential) of a proton and a neutron [25]. More work on this issue has been done in [26, 27]. The generalization of Weinberg's work to coupled channels was done in [28] and a different derivation is also done in [29]. Yet, all the work has been done for s-waves. The generalization of the theorem to higher partial waves is one of the contents of the present work. The theorem comes as a byproduct of a thorough study of the relationship of scattering amplitudes in momentum space to wave functions in coordinate space and the meaning of the residues at the poles, or couplings of states to the pair of interacting hadrons. The same problem was studied for just s-waves in [28], for bound states, and in [30] for resonant states. In the present paper we generalize this work to any partial wave and both for bound states and states in the continuum. As an application of some of the results obtained we justify that the ρ meson is not a composite state of $\pi\pi$ but something else. This is the commonly accepted idea about the nature of the ρ , which qualifies as one of the typical $q\bar{q}$ states, and has been supported by large N_c studies done in [31–33]. The novelty is that we reach the conclusion from just the experimental data.

The work contains novel results and is rather practical concerning applications and clarity in the derivation and in the relationship of different magnitudes.

II. COUPLINGS AND WAVE FUNCTIONS IN THE CASE OF BOUND STATES

We want to study the nonrelativistic dynamics of a bound state generated by the interaction of two particles of masses m_1 and m_2 in a generic *l*-wave.

A. Lippman-Schwinger equation

As done in [28, 30] we choose as the potential V a separable function in momentum space with the modulating factor being a step function, Θ . A generalization to other types of potential is done in [28], but the basic results are the same.

Thus, our potential, this time projected in a generic *l*-wave, is

$$\langle \vec{p}\,'|V|\vec{p}\rangle = V(\vec{p},\vec{p}\,') = v(2l+1)\Theta(\Lambda-p)\Theta(\Lambda-p')P_l(\cos\theta)|\vec{p}|^l|\vec{p}\,'|^l , \qquad (1)$$

where Λ is a cutoff in the momentum space.

Let the Hamiltonian of the system be $H = H_0 + V$, with H_0 the free Hamiltonian. The nonrelativistic Lippmann-Schwinger equation can be written as

$$T = V + V \frac{1}{E - H_0} T \tag{2}$$

and also as

$$T = V + V \frac{1}{E - H} V . aga{3}$$

Considering the second term of the series given by Eq. (2) and substituting the expression of the potential, we can write

$$\langle \vec{p} | T^{(2)} | \vec{p}' \rangle = \langle \vec{p} | (2l+1) v \Theta(\Lambda-p) \int_{p'' < \Lambda} d^3 p'' P_l(\hat{p}, \hat{p}'') \frac{|\vec{p}|^l |\vec{p}''|^l}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}''^2}{2\mu}}$$

$$\times (2l+1) v \Theta(\Lambda-p') P_l(\hat{p}'', \hat{p}') |\vec{p}''|^l |\vec{p}'|^l |\vec{p}'\rangle ,$$

$$(4)$$

where μ is the reduced mass of the two interacting particles of masses m_1 and m_2 and we have used the normalization

$$\begin{aligned} |\vec{p}\rangle\langle\vec{p}| &\equiv \int d^3p \ ,\\ \langle\vec{p}|\vec{p}\,'\rangle &= \delta^{(3)}(\vec{p}-\vec{p}\,') \ . \end{aligned}$$
(5)

Using the expression of the Legendre functions in terms of the spherical harmonics,

$$P_l(\hat{p}, \hat{p}'') = \frac{4\pi}{2l+1} \sum_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) Y_{lm}^*(\hat{p}'') , \qquad (6)$$

and their normalization condition,

$$\int d\Omega Y_{lm}^*(\hat{p}) Y_{l'm'}(\hat{p}) = \delta_{ll'} \delta_{mm'} , \qquad (7)$$

Eq. (4) becomes

$$T^{(2)} = (2l+1)v\Theta(\Lambda - p)v\Theta(\Lambda - p')P_l(\hat{p}, \hat{p}')|\vec{p}|^l|\vec{p}'|^l \times \int_{p'' < \Lambda} d^3p'' \frac{|\vec{p}''|^{2l}}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}''^2}{2\mu}} .$$
(8)

Repeating the procedure for the other terms of the expression of the Lippmann-Schwinger equation, leads to the expression of the scattering amplitude

$$T = (2l+1)P_l(\hat{p}, \hat{p}')\Theta(\Lambda - p)\Theta(\Lambda - p')|\vec{p}|^l|\vec{p}'|^lt$$
(9)

with

$$t = v + v \ G \ t \ , \qquad t = \frac{v}{(1 - vG)} = \frac{1}{v^{-1} - G} \ ,$$
 (10)

where

$$G = \int_{p'' < \Lambda} d^3 p'' \frac{|\vec{p}''|^{2l}}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}''^2}{2\mu}} .$$
(11)

We can see that the factor 2l + 1 does not appear in the equation for t.

We can also see that v in Eq. (10) does not contain $|\vec{p}|^l$, which is now absorbed into the definition of the loop function G of Eq. (11). Other approaches for p-waves, like the one of [34, 35], factorize on shell $|\vec{p}|^l$ and associate it to the potential. In those cases, G does not have the factor $|\vec{p''}|^{2l}$ in Eq. (11). The procedure leads to the same ImT but can induce differences in the ReT. Later on we shall see that the option chosen here, which stems from the form of the potential in Eq. (1), allows one to generalize the sum rule for the couplings found in [28], which is lost if one uses the on shell factorized form.

B. Bound states in the one channel case: wave function in the momentum space

From the Schrödinger equation follows

$$|\Psi\rangle = \frac{V}{E - H_0} |\Psi\rangle , \qquad (12)$$

which has the solution

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle = \int d^3k \int d^3k' \langle \vec{p} | \frac{1}{E - H_0} | \vec{k} \rangle \langle \vec{k} | V | \vec{k'} \rangle \langle \vec{k'} | \Psi \rangle .$$
⁽¹³⁾

Substituting the potential (1) and using

$$\langle \vec{p} | \frac{1}{E - H_0} | \vec{k} \rangle = \delta^{(3)} (\vec{p} - \vec{k}) \frac{1}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} , \qquad (14)$$

we obtain

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle = \int_{k' < \Lambda} d^3 k' (2l+1) v \Theta(\Lambda - p) \frac{1}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} |\vec{p}|^l |\vec{k}'|^l P_l(\hat{p}, \hat{k}') \langle \vec{k}' | \Psi \rangle$$

$$= 4\pi \sum_m \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l v}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3 k Y_{lm}^*(\hat{k}) |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \Psi \rangle ,$$
(15)

which gives us the expression of the wave function in momentum space.

Defining $\langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$ as

$$\langle \vec{k} | \Psi \rangle \cong (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m'} a_{m'} Y_{lm'}(\hat{k}) \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle , \qquad (16)$$

with the coefficients $a_{m'}$ normalized as

$$\sum_{m'} |a_{m'}|^2 = 1 , \qquad (17)$$

we can write Eq. (15) as

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m} a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$$

$$= (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m} \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l v}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$$

$$(18)$$

obtaining

$$\langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l v}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle .$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

Integrating in d^3p and multiplying both sides by $|\vec{p}|^l$, Eq. (19) becomes

$$\int d^3 p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = \int_{p < \Lambda} d^3 p \frac{|\vec{p}|^{2l} v}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3 k \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle |\vec{k}|^l$$

$$= G v \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3 k \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle |\vec{k}|^l ,$$
(20)

giving us the condition for a pole in t-matrix corresponding to a bound state,

$$1 - G(E) \ v = 0 \ , \tag{21}$$

which will occur for some value $E_{\alpha} < m_1 + m_2$.

C. Normalization of the wave function

Let $E_{\alpha} < m_1 + m_2$ be the solution of Eq. (21). Since we are dealing with a bound state, its wave function will satisfy the normalization condition

$$\int d^3 p |\langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle|^2 = 1 .$$
(22)

We can now substitute the expression of the wave function (18) in the above equation,

$$\int d^{3}p |\langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle|^{2} = \int d^{3}p (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m} \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^{l} v}{E - m_{1} - m_{2} - \frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2\mu}} a_{m}^{*} Y_{lm}^{*}(\hat{p}) \int_{k < \Lambda} d^{3}k \langle \tilde{\Psi} | \vec{k} \rangle |\vec{k}|^{l} \times (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m'} \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^{l} v}{E - m_{1} - m_{2} - \frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2\mu}} a_{m'} Y_{lm'}(\hat{p}) \int_{k' < \Lambda} d^{3}k' \langle \vec{k}' | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle |\vec{k}'|^{l}$$

$$= \int_{p < \Lambda} d^{3}p \left(\frac{|\vec{p}|^{l} v}{E - m_{1} - m_{2} - \frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2\mu}} \right)^{2} \sum_{m} |a_{m}|^{2} \left| \int_{k < \Lambda} d^{3}k |\vec{k}|^{l} \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \Big|^{2} .$$
(23)

Taking into account the normalization in Eq. (17) and Eq. (11), we obtain

$$-\frac{dG}{dE} v^2 \left| \int_{k<\Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \right|^2 = 1 .$$
(24)

Eq. (24) is relevant for our purposes. By construction, the left-hand side is the probability that the bound state found couples to the hadron-hadron component under consideration. We shall see in the following sections that, when we have several interacting hadron-hadron pairs, it is replaced by a sum over the different coupled channels, and each of the terms indicates the probability to find each hadron-hadron pair in the wave function. Yet, it could be that a physical state couples not only to hadron-hadron pairs, but also to a different component of non molecular type, say $q\bar{q}$ for mesons or qqq for baryons. One example of this can be found in studies with the chiral bag model [36] where the Δ has a big qqqcomponent and a smaller πN one. In this case the normalization would be given by

$$-\frac{dG}{dE} v^2 \left| \int_{k<\Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \right|^2 + |\langle \beta | \Psi \rangle|^2 = 1 , \qquad (25)$$

and then

$$-\frac{dG}{dE} v^2 \left| \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \right|^2 = 1 - Z ; \qquad Z = |\langle \beta | \Psi \rangle|^2 , \qquad (26)$$

where $|\beta\rangle$ is the genuine component of the state (the qqq in the bag model of [36]).

This is the statement of the compositeness condition of Weinberg, although derived and formulated in a different way. The idea is that the first term in Eq. (24) represents the probability to find the hadron-hadron component in the wave function, and its diversion from unity is the probability to find some other components which have not been considered if one has neglected important channels of the more general coupled channels problem. Yet, the theorem can be stated in a more practical way as we show in the following section.

D. Couplings

Now we want to use the other form of the Lippmann-Schwinger equation, Eq. (3). We have

$$\langle \vec{p}|T|\vec{p}'\rangle = \langle \vec{p}|V|\vec{p}'\rangle + \sum_{nn'} \langle \vec{p}|V|n\rangle \langle n|\frac{1}{E-H}|n'\rangle \langle n'|V|\vec{p}'\rangle , \qquad (27)$$

where $|n\rangle$ and $|n'\rangle$ are complete sets of eigenstates of the full Hamiltonian H.

In the vicinity of the pole, $E = E_{\alpha}$, we can take into account only the dominant contribution coming from the eigenstate $|\alpha\rangle$. Then,

$$\langle \vec{p}|T|\vec{p}'\rangle \sim \langle \vec{p}|V|\vec{p}'\rangle + \int d^3k \int d^3k' \langle \vec{p}|V|\vec{k}\rangle \langle \vec{k}|\alpha\rangle \frac{1}{E - E_\alpha} \langle \alpha|\vec{k}'\rangle \langle \vec{k}'|V|\vec{p}'\rangle .$$
(28)

We can write Eq. (28) explicitly

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \vec{p} | T | \vec{p}' \rangle &= 4\pi \Theta(\Lambda - p) \Theta(\Lambda - p') t | \vec{p} |^{l} | \vec{p}' |^{l} \sum_{m} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) Y_{lm}^{*}(\hat{p}') \\ &= 4\pi \Theta(\Lambda - p) \Theta(\Lambda - p') v | \vec{p} |^{l} | \vec{p}' |^{l} \sum_{m} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) Y_{lm}^{*}(\hat{p}') \\ &+ \int_{k < \Lambda} d^{3}k \int_{k' < \Lambda} d^{3}k' 4\pi \Theta(\Lambda - p) v | \vec{p} |^{l} | \vec{k} |^{l} \sum_{m'} Y_{lm'}(\hat{p}) Y_{lm'}^{*}(\hat{k}) \\ &\times \langle \vec{k} | \alpha \rangle \frac{1}{E - E_{\alpha}} \langle \alpha | \vec{k}' \rangle 4\pi \Theta(\Lambda - p') v | \vec{k}' |^{l} | \vec{p}' |^{l} \sum_{m''} Y_{lm''}(\hat{k}') Y_{lm''}^{*}(\hat{p}') . \end{aligned}$$
(29)

Using the fact that

$$\langle \vec{k} | \alpha \rangle \frac{1}{E - E_{\alpha}} \langle \alpha | \vec{k}' \rangle \to 4\pi \frac{1}{E - E_{\alpha}} \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\alpha} \rangle \langle \tilde{\alpha} | \vec{k}' \rangle \sum_{m} Y_{lm}(\hat{k}) Y_{lm}^{*}(\hat{k}') , \qquad (30)$$

from Eq. (29) we can easily find

$$t = v + v^2 \frac{1}{E - E_\alpha} \left| \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\alpha} \rangle | \vec{k} |^l \right|^2 \,. \tag{31}$$

Close to the pole the coupling g is defined such that the amplitude can be written as

$$t = \frac{g^2}{E - E_\alpha} , \qquad (32)$$

and hence

$$g^{2} = \lim_{E \to E_{\alpha}} (E - E_{\alpha}) \ t = v^{2} \left| \int_{k < \Lambda} d^{3}k \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\alpha} \rangle | \vec{k} |^{l} \right|^{2} \ . \tag{33}$$

Eq. (33) allows to write $v^2 \left| \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\alpha} \rangle | \vec{k} |^l \right|^2$ in terms of the couplings, which can be determined experimentally, and then Eq. (24) can be stated, for a composite state, as

$$-g^2 \frac{dG}{dE} = 1 \tag{34}$$

and, in general, as

$$-g^2 \frac{dG}{dE} = 1 - Z , \qquad (35)$$

in the case we have coupling to a genuine component, with Z the probability to find this component in the wave function. Since g can be determined experimentally, one can see the value of Eq. (35) to determine the nature of the states, as has been made manifest in [25, 27].

We have been assuming implicitly that v is energy independent. Indeed, Eq. (34) can be obtained from Eq. (10) using l'Hôpital rule

$$g^{2} = \lim_{E \to E_{\alpha}} (E - E_{\alpha})t = \lim_{E \to E_{\alpha}} \frac{E - E_{\alpha}}{v^{-1} - G} = \frac{1}{-\frac{dG}{dE}} , \qquad (36)$$

where in the last step we have assumed that v is energy independent. Here we see the convenience of avoiding the on shell factorization, where the vertex $|\vec{p}|^{2l}$ is incorporated in v, because then the new v is necessarily energy dependent and we cannot obtain Eq. (36).

Actually, as seen in [25, 27], Z means the probability to have the genuine component of the state. When dealing with a physical system in which $Z \neq 0$, one can accomodate it in the present formalism by taking a potential v energy independent, which accounts for the couplings to the hadron-hadron component, and a CDD pole term [37] of the type $a/(E - E_R)$, which accounts for the coupling to the genuine component. As shown in [38], this is a good tool for the analysis of data that return $Z \leq 1$ as it should be, with Z related to the strenght of the CDD pole, a.

E. Wave function in coordinate space

We can evaluate the wave function in coordinate space as

$$\langle \vec{x} | \Psi \rangle = \int d^3 p \langle \vec{x} | \vec{p} \rangle \langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle = \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} e^{i \vec{p} \vec{x}} \langle \vec{p} | \Psi \rangle$$

$$= \int_{p < \Lambda} \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} e^{i \vec{p} \vec{x}} \frac{|\vec{p}|^l}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} g(4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) ,$$

$$(37)$$

where we have used Eqs. (18) and (34) in the expression of the wave function in momentum space.

Recalling the expansion of the plane wave in terms of spherical harmonics and Bessel functions

$$e^{i\vec{p}\vec{x}} = 4\pi \sum_{lm} i^l j_l(pr) Y_{lm}^*(\hat{p}) Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) , \qquad (38)$$

Eq. (37) becomes

$$\langle \vec{x} | \Psi \rangle = g \int_{p < \Lambda} \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} i^l j_l(pr) \frac{|\vec{p}|^l}{E - m_1 - m_2 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu}} (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) , \qquad (39)$$

which gives us the expression of the wave function in coordinate space.

The Bessel functions satisfy

$$j_l(z) \xrightarrow{z \to \infty} \frac{1}{z} \cos\left[z - \frac{l+1}{2}\pi\right]$$
 (40)

Thus, the asymptotic behaviour of the wave function is

$$\langle \vec{x} | \Psi \rangle \xrightarrow{r \to \infty} -g \ 2\mu \ \sqrt{2\pi} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right) \right) \sum_{m} a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) (i\gamma)^l \ \frac{e^{-\gamma r}}{r} \ , \tag{41}$$

where $\gamma = \sqrt{2\mu |E_B|}$, with E_B the binding energy, $E_B = E - m_1 - m_2 < 0$.

F. The meaning of the couplings in terms of wave functions

Now we want to establish the relation between the coupling and the wave function at the origin in coordinate space.

From the behaviour of the Bessel functions for small values of the argument,

$$j_l(pr) \longrightarrow \frac{|\vec{p}|^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2l+1)!!} \qquad |\vec{p}| |\vec{r}| \to 0 , \qquad (42)$$

follows the expression of the wave function at the origin

$$\Psi(\vec{x} \to 0) = \langle \vec{x} \to 0 | \Psi \rangle = g \ G \ \frac{i^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2\pi)^{2/3} (2l+1)!!} (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) \ . \tag{43}$$

Eq. (43) leads to the relation between the coupling and the wave function

$$g = G^{-1} \hat{\Psi} , \qquad (44)$$

where we have defined

$$\hat{\Psi} = \frac{(2\pi)^{2/3}(2l+1)!!}{i^l |\vec{r}|^l (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{r})} \Psi(\vec{x} \to 0) .$$
(45)

For l = 0 this equation leads to

$$(2\pi)^{3/2}\Psi(0) = gG , \qquad (46)$$

which is the result obtained in [28].

G. Generalization to coupled channels

Now we have

$$\langle \vec{p}|V|\vec{p}'\rangle \equiv (2l+1) \ v \ \Theta(\Lambda-p)\Theta(\Lambda-p)|\vec{p}|^l |\vec{p}'|^l P_l(\cos\theta) \ , \tag{47}$$

where v is a $N \times N$ matrix with N the number of channels. The expressions obtained can be generalized to many channels.

H. Couplings in coupled channels

We can write the t matrix as

$$t = [1 - vG]^{-1}v , (48)$$

where G is the diagonal matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} G_1 & & \\ & G_2 & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & & G_N \end{pmatrix}$$
(49)

with G_i given by Eq. (11) for each channel. This can be rewritten as

$$t = \frac{Av}{det(1 - vG)} , \qquad (50)$$

where A is defined as

$$A = [det(1 - vG)](1 - vG)^{-1}$$
(51)

and is introduced to single out the source of the pole in coupled channels, which is given by the condition

$$det(1 - vG) = 0. (52)$$

Now we have

$$g_i g_j = \lim_{E \to E_\alpha} (E - E_\alpha) \ t_{ij} = \left[\frac{(Av)_{ij}}{\frac{d}{dE} det(1 - vG)} \right]_{E = E_\alpha} , \qquad (53)$$

and hence

$$\frac{g_j}{g_i} = \left[\frac{(Av)_{ij}}{(Av)_{ii}}\right]_{E=E_\alpha}$$
(54)

I. Wave functions in momentum space

Eq. (18) is generalized as follows

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_i \rangle = \frac{|\vec{p}|^l \Theta(\Lambda - p)(2l+1)}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i}} \sum_j v_{ij} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l P_l(\hat{k}, \hat{p}) \langle \vec{k} | \Psi_j \rangle , \qquad (55)$$

and using Eq. (16) we find

$$\langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle = \frac{|\vec{p}|^l \Theta(\Lambda - p)}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i}} \sum_j v_{ij} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle , \qquad (56)$$

where $M_i = m_{1i} + m_{2i}$.

Integrating in d^3p and multiplying by $|\vec{p}|^l$ both sides, we obtain the following equation, written in matrix form

$$\int d^3p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p}| \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = G \ v \ \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k}| \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \ . \tag{57}$$

From Eq. (57) follows again the condition to find the pole

$$det(1 - Gv) = 0. (58)$$

Eq. (57) can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{j} v_{ij} \int d^3 p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle = [G_i^{\alpha}]^{-1} \int d^3 p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle , \qquad (59)$$

which, substituted in Eq. (56), gives

$$\langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle = \frac{|\vec{p}|^l \Theta(\Lambda - p)}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i}} [G_i^{\alpha}]^{-1} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle .$$

$$\tag{60}$$

We can now define the partial probability

$$P_i = \int d^3 p |\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_i \rangle|^2 \tag{61}$$

and write the normalization condition for the wave functions

$$\sum_{i} P_i = 1 . (62)$$

Substituting Eq. (55) in the last equation we find the generalization to many channels of Eq. (24)

$$P_{i} = \left[-\frac{dG_{i}}{dE} \right]_{E=E_{\alpha}} \frac{1}{\left[G_{i}^{\alpha}\right]^{2}} \left| \int_{k<\Lambda} d^{3}k |\vec{k}|^{l} \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_{i} \rangle \right|^{2} .$$

$$(63)$$

J. Wave functions in coordinate space

In coordinate space we have

$$\langle \vec{x} | \Psi_i \rangle = \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} e^{i \vec{p} \vec{x}} \langle \vec{p} | \Psi_i \rangle = \int_{p < \Lambda} \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} e^{i \vec{p} \vec{x}} (4\pi)^{1/2} \\ \times \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \frac{|\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i}} \frac{1}{G_i^{\alpha}} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3 k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle ,$$
(64)

which, expanding the plane wave by means of Eq. (38), becomes

$$\Psi_{i}(\vec{x}) = \langle \vec{x} | \Psi_{i} \rangle = \int_{p < \Lambda} \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m} a_{m} Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) \ i^{l} \ j_{l}(pr) \frac{|\vec{p}|^{l}}{E - M_{i} - \frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2\mu_{i}}} \frac{1}{G_{i}^{\alpha}} \\ \times \int_{k < \Lambda} d^{3}k |\vec{k}|^{l} \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_{i} \rangle .$$
(65)

As in the previous case, we obtain the expression of the wave function at the origin in coordinate space using Eq. (42):

$$\Psi_i(\vec{x} \equiv 0) = \frac{(4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) i^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2\pi)^{3/2} (2l+1)!!} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle .$$
(66)

Now we go back to Eq. (57). Defining, as in the previous section

$$\hat{\Psi}_{i} \equiv \Psi_{i}(\vec{x} \to 0) \left[\frac{(4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_{m} a_{m} Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) i^{l} |\vec{r}|^{l}}{(2\pi)^{3/2} (2l+1)!!} \right]^{-1} = \int_{k < \Lambda} d^{3}k |\vec{k}|^{l} \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi} \rangle , \qquad (67)$$

we are allowed to rewrite Eq. (57) as

$$\hat{\Psi} = G \ v \ \hat{\Psi} \ . \tag{68}$$

Eq. (68) requires for its solution

$$det(1 - vG) = 0 {,} {(69)}$$

which is guaranteed for a bound eigenstate of energy E_{α} . So, this equation can be rewritten as

$$\left[G^{\alpha}\right]^{-1}\hat{\Psi} = v\hat{\Psi} , \qquad (70)$$

which allows us to write the expression of the wave function in momentum space in terms of the wave function at the origin of coordinate space, as

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_i \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i}} [G_i^{\alpha}]^{-1} \hat{\Psi}_i .$$
(71)

From the normalization condition in Eq. (62) follows again

$$\sum_{i} \langle \Psi_{i} | \Psi_{i} \rangle = \int d^{3}p \sum_{i} |\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_{i} \rangle|^{2}$$

$$= -\sum_{i} \left[\frac{dG_{i}}{dE} \right]_{E=E_{\alpha}} \frac{1}{[G_{i}^{\alpha}]^{2}} \hat{\Psi_{i}}^{2} = 1 .$$
(72)

K. Couplings

Now we want to define the couplings in terms of $\hat{\Psi}_i$.

We use the version of Eq. (3) for the Lippmann-Schwinger equation. Recalling that close to the pole of the eigenfunction of the Hamiltonian associated to the E_{α} , only this state $|\alpha\rangle$ contributes in the sum over the eigenstates, we find

$$t_{ij} = v_{ij} + \sum_{mn} v_{im} \hat{\Psi}_m \frac{1}{E - E_\alpha} \hat{\Psi}_n v_{nj} .$$
 (73)

When we look for the couplings as the residues in the pole of the t-matrix, we obtain

$$g_i g_j = \lim_{E \to E_\alpha} (E - E_\alpha) t_{ij} = \sum_{mn} v_{im} \hat{\Psi}_m v_{nj} \hat{\Psi}_n$$

$$= \left[G_i^{-1} \hat{\Psi}_i G_j^{-1} \hat{\Psi}_j \right]_{E = E_\alpha} , \qquad (74)$$

which allows us to write the couplings in terms of the wave function at the origin of coordinate space,

$$g_i = \left[G_i^{\alpha}\right]^{-1} \hat{\Psi}_i \ . \tag{75}$$

It is also possible to rewrite Eq. (72) as

$$\sum_{i} g_i^2 \left[\frac{dG_i}{dE} \right]_{E=E_{\alpha}} = -1 , \qquad (76)$$

in complete analogy with the case of only one channel.

Each of the terms in Eq. (76) (with opposite sign) gives the probability to find a certain channel in the wave function of the bound states.

III. GENERALIZATION TO OPEN CHANNELS

Now we want to adapt the formalism to the case of open channels. We work directly in coupled channels where at least one is open. We take again

$$\langle \vec{p}|V|\vec{p}'\rangle \equiv (2l+1) \ v \ \Theta(\Lambda-p)\Theta(\Lambda-p')|\vec{p}|^l|\vec{p}'|^l P_l(\cos\theta) \ . \tag{77}$$

A. Lippmann-Schwinger equation for open channels

In order to create a resonance from the interaction of many channels at a certain energy, we must take a channel which is open at this energy and make the two particles collide, starting from an infinite separation at $t = -\infty$. We call this channel, which is asymptotically the scattering state, channel 1.

The equations we have to solve are

$$|\Psi\rangle = |\Phi\rangle + \frac{1}{E - H_0} V |\Psi\rangle , \qquad (78)$$

where

$$|\Psi\rangle = \begin{cases} |\Psi_1\rangle \\ |\Psi_2\rangle \\ \vdots \\ |\Psi_N\rangle \end{cases} , \qquad |\Phi\rangle = \begin{cases} |\Phi_1\rangle \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{cases} , \qquad (79)$$

and $|\Phi\rangle = |\vec{p}'\rangle$. Once again μ_i is the reduced mass of the system of total mass $M_i = m_{1i} + m_{2i}$.

B. Wave function in momentum space

We can proceed analogously to the bound states case and write the wave functions in momentum space as

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_1 \rangle - \langle \vec{p} | \Phi_1 \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \frac{|\vec{p}|^l \Theta(\Lambda - p)}{E - M_1 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_1} + i\epsilon} \sum_j v_{1j} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle ,$$

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_i \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} \sum_m a_m Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \frac{|\vec{p}|^l \Theta(\Lambda - p)}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i} + i\epsilon} \sum_j v_{ij} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle , \qquad i \neq 1 .$$

$$(80)$$

In the bound state case we had $E < M_i$ and $E - M_i - \vec{p}^2/2\mu$ cannot be zero for any value of E. We only have descrete eigenstates for some energies. Now, we are dealing with open channels and, since any value of E is allowed and we can have singularities when $E = M_i + \vec{p}^2/2\mu_i$, we need to put $+i\epsilon$ in order to guarantee a solution to the Lippmann-Schwinger equations.

In order to make the problem technically easy we shall prepare the state $|\Phi_1\rangle$ such that it contains only the *l*-wave:

$$|\Phi_1\rangle = \int d^3 p' a(\vec{p}\,') |\vec{p}\,'\rangle \ . \tag{81}$$

We can choose $a(\vec{p}')$ such that

$$a(\vec{p}') = (4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}') a(p') , \qquad (82)$$

where a(p') is, for instance, a Gaussian around p_1 and m is fixed.

Thus, we find that

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Phi_1 \rangle = \int d^3 p' (4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}') a(p') \langle \vec{p} | \vec{p} \,' \rangle$$

$$= \int d^3 p' (4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}') \delta^{(3)}(\vec{p} - \vec{p} \,') a(p')$$

$$= (4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) a(p) ,$$

$$(83)$$

with a(p) normalized such that $\int d^3p \ a(p) |\vec{p}|^l = 1$.

Now all the terms in $|\Psi_i\rangle$ have the same angular dependence and we can write

$$\langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_1 \rangle = a(p) + \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_1 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_1} + i\epsilon} \sum_j v_{1j} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle ,$$

$$\langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle = \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i} + i\epsilon} \sum_j v_{ij} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle , \qquad i \neq 1 .$$

$$(84)$$

Now again we integrate in d^3p and multiply by $|\vec{p}|^l$, and since

$$\int d^3p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Phi}_1 \rangle = 1, \tag{85}$$

we find

$$\int d^3 p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_1 \rangle = 1 + G_1 \sum_j v_{1j} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3 k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle ,$$

$$\int d^3 p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle = G_i \sum_j v_{ij} \int_{k < \Lambda} d^3 k |\vec{k}|^l \langle \vec{k} | \tilde{\Psi}_j \rangle , \qquad i \neq 1 ,$$
(86)

with G_i defined as

$$G_{i} = \int_{p < \Lambda} d^{3}p \frac{|\vec{p}|^{2l}}{E - M_{i} - \frac{\vec{p}^{2}}{2\mu_{i}} + i\epsilon} .$$
(87)

As in the previous case we can define

$$\hat{\Psi}_i = \int_{p<\Lambda} d^3 p |\vec{p}|^l \langle \vec{p} | \tilde{\Psi}_i \rangle , \qquad (88)$$

which allows us to rewrite Eqs. (86) as

$$\hat{\Psi}_{1} = 1 + G_{1} \sum_{j} v_{1j} \hat{\Psi}_{j} ,$$

$$\hat{\Psi}_{i} = G_{i} \sum_{j} v_{ij} \hat{\Psi}_{j} , \qquad i \neq 1 .$$
(89)

In matrix form, we have

$$(1 - Gv)\hat{\Psi} = \begin{cases} 1\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{cases}$$
(90)

and hence

$$\hat{\Psi}_i = (1 - Gv)_{i1}^{-1} . \tag{91}$$

The $N \times N$ scattering matrix is still given by

$$t = (1 - vG)^{-1}v = (v^{-1} - G)^{-1} , \qquad (92)$$

and by means of Eq. (91) we can write

$$v_{ij}\hat{\Psi}_j = v_{ij}(1 - Gv)_{j1}^{-1} = (v^{-1} - G)_{i1}^{-1} = t_{i1} .$$
(93)

Going back to Eq. (84), follows

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_1 \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \left(a(p) + \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_1 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_1} + i\epsilon} t_{11} \right) ,$$

$$\langle \vec{p} | \Psi_i \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{p}) \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i} + i\epsilon} t_{i1} , \qquad i \neq 1 .$$

$$(94)$$

C. Wave functions in coordinate space

In coordinate space, the wave functions can be written as

$$\langle \vec{x} | \Psi_1 \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} \, i^l \, Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \, j_l(pr) \left(a(p) + \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_1 - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_1} + i\epsilon} t_{11} \right) , \\ \langle \vec{x} | \Psi_i \rangle = (4\pi)^{1/2} \, i^l \, Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \, j_l(pr) \frac{\Theta(\Lambda - p) |\vec{p}|^l}{E - M_i - \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2\mu_i} + i\epsilon} t_{i1} \qquad i \neq 1 .$$

$$(95)$$

We take again the limit of small argument for the Bessel's functions, Eq. (42), obtaining

$$\langle \vec{x} \to 0 | \Psi_1 \rangle = \frac{(4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) i^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2\pi)^{3/2} (2l+1)!!} \left[1 + G_1 t_{11} \right]$$

$$= \frac{(4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) i^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2\pi)^{3/2} (2l+1)!!} \left[1 + G_1 \sum_j v_{ij} \hat{\Psi}_j \right]$$

$$= \frac{(4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) i^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2\pi)^{3/2} (2l+1)!!} \hat{\Psi}_1 ,$$

$$(96)$$

and, similarly

$$\langle \vec{x} \to 0 | \Psi_i \rangle = \frac{(4\pi)^{1/2} Y_{lm}(\hat{r}) i^l |\vec{r}|^l}{(2\pi)^{3/2} (2l+1)!!} \hat{\Psi}_i , \qquad i \neq 1 .$$
(97)

D. Relation between couplings and wave functions at the origin

In the vicinity of a resonance

$$t_{ij} \simeq \frac{g_i g_j}{E - E_R + i\frac{\Gamma}{2}}$$
(98)

Hence

$$\frac{t_{i1}}{t_{11}} = \frac{g_i}{g_1} = \frac{\hat{\Psi}_i G_i^{-1}}{\hat{\Psi}_1 G_1^{-1}} .$$
(99)

We can also use Eq. (3) for the Lippmann-Schwinger equation and repeat the steps of section (IIK), and find analogously that

$$g_i = \hat{\Psi}_i G_i^{-1} . \tag{100}$$

In the case of resonances we cannot directly derive the sum rule in Eq. (76), since it follows from the normalization condition of the wave function in coordinate space, which is not finite anymore. However, it still holds in the pole in the complex plane (see [29] for a different derivation), where again we have

$$\sum_{i} g_i^2 \left[\frac{dG_i}{dE} \right]_{E=E_P} = -1 , \qquad (101)$$

with E_P the position of the complex pole.

IV. THE TEST FOR THE ρ RESONANCE

By means of the sum rule in Eq. (101) we can try to find out whether a resonance is created by the interaction of two particles or not. We want to apply this tool to the specific case of the ρ resonance.

It is known that the ρ is not dynamically generated by the interaction of two π mesons, but it is basically a genuine resonance. Thus, we expect the sum rule not to be satisfied.

In order to quantify the statement, we perform two test. First we use a good model based on chiral unitary theory for the ρ meson, and then we propose a pure phenomenological test, where only $\pi\pi$ data are used.

A. Model for the ρ meson

We follow here the approach of [34] but slightly modified in order to account for the p-wave character of the loop function. Hence, we take

$$v = -\frac{2}{3f^2} \left(1 + \frac{2G_V^2}{f^2} \frac{s}{M_\rho^2 - s} \right) , \qquad (102)$$

where M_{ρ} is the bare ρ mass, f is the π decay constant and G_V the coupling to $\pi\pi$ in the formalism of [5], where $G_V \simeq f/\sqrt{2}$.

In [39] this model was fitted to $\pi\pi$ data in I = 1 and the values $f = 87.4 \ MeV$, $G_V = 53 \ MeV$ and $M_{\rho} = 837.3 \ MeV$ were obtained (very similar to those used in [34]). Here we use the same potential but the factor p^2 in V is removed to get the potential v of Eq. (1), which does not depend on the momentum. Instead, here, the p^2 factor is included in the loop function (see discussion after Eq. (11)). This means we have to redo the fit to the data using

$$t = \frac{1}{v^{-1} - G} , \qquad (103)$$

with

$$G(s) = \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{q^2}{s - (\omega_1 + \omega_2)^2 + i\epsilon} \left(\frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2\omega_1\omega_2}\right) , \qquad (104)$$

and $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \sqrt{m_{\pi}^2 + q^2}$, where a relativistic reformulation is assumed [9]. The loop function of Eq. (104) is regularized by means of a cutoff q_{max} . The $\pi\pi$ phase shift is then given by (see [34, 39])

$$T = p^2 t = \frac{-8\pi\sqrt{s}}{p\cot\delta(p) - ip} , \qquad (105)$$

with p the momentum of the pion. The best fit produces the values

$$f = 93 \ MeV ,$$

$$G_V = 53 \ MeV ,$$

$$M_{\rho} = 855.36 \ MeV ,$$

$$q_{max} = 661.52 \ MeV .$$

(106)

The results can be seen in Fig. 1. The results at higher energies could be improved including the $K\bar{K}$ channel and it will be shown in subsection IV C. In order to apply the sum rule to the case of a resonance, we need to extrapolate the amplitude to the complex plane and look for the complex pole s_0 in the second Riemann sheet. This is done by changing G to G^{II} in Eq. (103), as will be described below to obtain t^{II} .

 $G^{II}(s)$ is the analytic continuation to the complex plane of the loop function in *p*-wave for the two pions,

$$G^{II}(s) = G^{I}(s) + i \frac{p^{3}}{4\pi\sqrt{s}} , \qquad Im(p) > 0 , \qquad (107)$$

 G^{I} and G^{II} are the loop functions in the first and second Riemann sheet and G^{I} is given by Eq. (104).

We are now able to determine the coupling \tilde{g}_{ρ} as the residue in the pole of the amplitude,

$$\tilde{g}_{\rho}^{2} = \lim_{s \to s_{0}} (s - s_{0}) t^{II}.$$
(108)



FIG. 1. The solid curve represents the $\pi\pi$ scattering *p*-wave phase shift obtained in [39] using the model based on chiral unitary theory [39]. The dashed curve is the best fit obtained with the new approach. The data are taken from [40], obtained using the Roy equations.

We can use the sum rule for the single $\pi\pi$ channel in order to evaluate the contribution of this channel to the production of the resonance,

$$-\tilde{g}_{\rho}^{2} \left[\frac{dG^{II}(s)}{ds} \right]_{s=s_{0}} = 1 - Z , \qquad (109)$$

where Z represents the probability that the ρ is not a $\pi\pi$ molecule but something else.

For the best fit to the data, we find the pole in

$$\sqrt{s_0} = (761.70 + i \ 71.39) \ MeV \ , \tag{110}$$

while the value of the coupling is

$$\tilde{g}_{\rho} = (6.86 + i \ 0.41) , \qquad (111)$$

in good agreement with those obtained in [39].

Then, we find

$$1 - Z = (0.004 + i \ 0.267) ,$$

$$|1 - Z| = 0.267 ,$$
(112)

which indicates that the amount of $\pi\pi$ in the wave function is small.

B. Phenomenological test

The exercise done before requires a theoretical model. It would be good to see if it is possible to reach similar conclusions using only data with a pure phenomenological analysis. This is done in this subsection.

Our aim is to test the sum rule using only experimental data. For s-wave there is no problem because the coupling g can be obtained from experiments and $\frac{dG}{dE}$ is a convergent magnitude, even when $q_{max} \to \infty$. This is, however, not the case for a p-wave resonance, such that extra work is required.

The ρ amplitude in a relativistic form can be written as

$$t_{\rho} = \frac{g_{\rho}^2}{s - m_{\rho}^2 + im_{\rho}\Gamma_{on}\left(\frac{p}{p_{on}}\right)^3} , \qquad (113)$$

where

$$p = \frac{\lambda^{1/2}(s, m_{\pi}^2, m_{\pi}^2)}{2\sqrt{s}} \tag{114}$$

is the three-momentum of the two pions in the center of mass reference frame,

$$p_{on} = p(\sqrt{s} = m_{\rho}) , \qquad (115)$$

and the coupling is related to the width through the equation

$$g_{\rho}^{2} = \frac{8\pi m_{\rho}^{2} \Gamma_{on}}{p_{on}^{3}} .$$
 (116)

The values of the mass m_{ρ} and width Γ_{on} of the ρ are given by experiment.

We obtain t_{ρ} in the second Riemann sheet from Eq. (113) by taking s complex, s = a+i b, and $p \to -p$ in the width term. Then we proceed as in the former subsection to get the pole and the coupling. We obtain

$$\sqrt{s_0} = (751.13 + i \ 68.38) \ MeV ,$$

$$g_{\rho} = (6.58 + i \ 1.01) ,$$
(117)

similar to those obtained before.

However, when doing the 1 - Z test, one does not know which value of the cutoff q_{max} should be used to regularize the G function. Hence, the best one can do is to use natural values of the cutoff and hope that the results are stable for a certain range of q_{max} , since $\frac{dG}{ds}$ is only logarithmically divergent.

The values of the strenght 1 - Z obtained for the ρ , changing the cutoff q_{max} , are shown in Table I. As we can see, the results are rather stable and similar to those obtained in the former subsection, particularly for |1 - Z|, with the same conclusion.

Note that since 1-Z is a small number, even relatively large uncertainties in this quantity are small errors on Z, which measures the amount by which the ρ is not a $\pi\pi$ composite state.

$q_{max} \ [GeV]$	1-Z	1 - Z
0.6	0.03 - i0.26	0.26
0.8	0.09 - i0.23	0.25
1	0.13 - i0.21	0.25
1.3	0.18 - i0.19	0.26
1.5	0.20 - i0.19	0.28
1.7	0.22 - i0.18	0.28
2	0.24 - i0.17	0.29

TABLE I. Values of 1 - Z for different cutoffs q_{max} .

C. Test with two channels

In order to get confidence on the conclusions of the previous subsections, we redo the analysis of the $\pi\pi$ data in terms of the $\pi\pi$ and $K\bar{K}$ channels. This was done in [38] and [39] using the transition potentials provided by chiral dynamics. Here we adopt a phenomenological attitude following the procedure used in subsection IV A for one channel.

For this purpose we take the potentials

$$v_{11} = -\frac{2}{3f^2} \left(1 + \frac{2G_V^2}{f^2} \frac{s}{M_\rho^2 - s} \right) ,$$

$$v_{12} = -\frac{2}{3f^2} \alpha \left(1 + \beta \frac{2G_V^2}{f^2} \frac{s}{M_\rho^2 - s} \right) ,$$

$$v_{22} = -\frac{2}{3f^2} \alpha' \left(1 + \beta' \frac{2G_V^2}{f^2} \frac{s}{M_\rho^2 - s} \right) ,$$

(118)

where the subscript 1 is for the $\pi\pi$ channel and 2 is for $K\bar{K}$. Thus, we keep the structure provided by the chiral Lagrangians, but without adopting the same weights α , β , α' and β' . From [38, 39] one has $\alpha = \sqrt{2}/2$, $\beta = 1$, $\alpha' = 1/2$ and $\beta' = 1$, but here we leave these parameters as free.

We then evaluate the Bethe-Salpeter equation in coupled channels

$$t = [1 - vG]^{-1} v , (119)$$

with G the diagonal matrix $G = diag(G_{\pi\pi}, G_{K\bar{K}})$, where $G_{\pi\pi}$ and $G_{K\bar{K}}$ have the form of Eq. (104) and we are now using two different cutoff parameters for each of them, $q_{max}^{\pi\pi}$ and $q_{max}^{K\bar{K}}$ respectively.

Now we carry a χ^2 fit to the data in Fig. 1 finding the parameters

$$\begin{split} f &= 93.77 \ MeV \ , \\ G_V &= 52.69 \ MeV \ , \\ M_\rho &= 869.63 \ MeV \ , \\ q_{max}^{\pi\pi} &= 661.56 \ MeV \ , \\ q_{max}^{K\bar{K}} &= 610.20 \ MeV \ , \\ \alpha &= 0.69 \ , \\ \beta &= 0.81 \ , \\ \alpha' &= 0.46 , \\ \beta' &= 0.79 \ , \end{split}$$
(120)

which lead to the result shown in Fig. 2. As expected, the data at higher energies improve. As we can see, the values obtained for α , β , α' and β' do not differ much from those that



FIG. 2. The solid curve is the best fit obtained with the new approach. The data are taken from [40], obtained using the Roy equations.

would be provided by the chiral Lagrangians.

Now we proceed as before to find the pole and the new couplings, this time for both the

 $\pi\pi$ and $K\bar{K}$ channels. We obtain

$$\sqrt{s_0} = (768.66 + i \ 73.71) \ MeV ,$$

$$g_{\pi\pi} = (6.94 + i \ 0.40) ,$$

$$g_{K\bar{K}} = (4.25 + i \ 0.01) .$$
(121)

Using these values and the value of $\frac{dG_i}{ds}$, with $i = \pi \pi, K\bar{K}$, we find

$$(1-Z)_{\pi\pi} = -g_{\pi\pi}^2 \frac{dG_{\pi\pi}}{ds} = (-5.05 \cdot 10^{-5} - i \ 0.27) ,$$

$$(1-Z)_{K\bar{K}} = -g_{K\bar{K}}^2 \frac{dG_{K\bar{K}}}{ds} = (1.28 \cdot 10^{-2} + i \ 3.32 \cdot 10^{-3}) ,$$

$$(122)$$

from where it follows

$$|1 - Z|_{\pi\pi} = 0.27 ,$$

$$|1 - Z|_{K\bar{K}} = 0.01.$$
(123)

Note that the $K\bar{K}$ channel is not open and hence $G_{K\bar{K}}$ is evaluated in the first Riemann sheet.

We can also evaluate

$$1 - Z = -g_{\pi\pi}^2 \frac{dG_{\pi\pi}}{ds} - g_{K\bar{K}}^2 \frac{dG_{K\bar{K}}}{ds} = (-1.28 \cdot 10^{-2} - i \ 0.27) ,$$

$$|1 - Z| = 0.27 .$$
(124)

The results in Eq. (123) lead us to the conclusion that the value of |1-Z| for the $\pi\pi$ channel is essentially unaffected by the inclusion of the $K\bar{K}$ channel. At the same time the exercise has served to get a feeling of the amount of $K\bar{K}$ present in the ρ meson wave function: we found a negligible fraction of about 1%.

Thus, the three tests carried in the work lead us to conclude that the ρ meson is mostly a dynamical structure with only a small component of $\pi\pi$ in its wave function and a negligible one of $K\bar{K}$.

V. CONCLUSIONS

We have made an analytical study of the scattering matrix and wave function for the case of the interaction of a pair of hadrons in coupled channels. For this purpose we have followed closely the formalism developed in the chiral unitary approach but using Quantum Mechanics and making all derivations in detail. The study has been done for all partial waves, generalizing work done before for *s*-waves. The study has been done both for bound states and for scattering states. We find novel and interesting relations between the couplings of bound states and resonances to the hadron-hadron channels and the wave function at the origin. Of particular value are the sum rules obtained which allow us to determine the probability to find a certain hadron-hadron component in the wave function. In particular, when the sum of these probabilities is unity we can say that this state is a composite state of hadron-hadron. When the sum differs from unity this difference measures the probability to find a genuine component in the wave function of non hadron-hadron molecular nature.

In this sense we extend the rule of compositeness condition derived by Weinberg for s-waves, one channel and small binding energies, to any partial wave, several coupled channels, bound states and resonances. As a test we have applied these findings to the rho meson, determining that it is largely a genuine state, with a small component of $\pi\pi$ and one much smaller of $K\bar{K}$, in agreement with other findings based on theoretical studies of the large N_c dependence of the *p*-wave $\pi\pi$ amplitude.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is partly supported by DGICYT contract FIS2011-28853-C02-01, the Generalitat Valenciana in the program Prometeo, 2009/090, and the EU Integrated Infrastructure Initiative Hadron Physics 3 Project under Grant Agreement no. 283286.

We would like to thank Y. Zhang and L. R. Dai for checking our numerical results and finding some misprints.

- [1] K. Nakamura et al. [Particle Data Group Collaboration], J. Phys. G G 37, 075021 (2010).
- [2] E. Klempt and A. Zaitsev, Phys. Rept. 454, 1 (2007) [arXiv:0708.4016 [hep-ph]].
- [3] E. Klempt and J. -M. Richard, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, 1095 (2010) [arXiv:0901.2055 [hep-ph]].
- [4] S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. **166**, 1568-1577 (1968).
- [5] J. Gasser, H. Leutwyler, Annals Phys. **158**, 142 (1984).
- [6] G. Ecker, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. **35**, 1 (1995) [hep-ph/9501357].
- [7] N. Kaiser, P. B. Siegel and W. Weise, Nucl. Phys. A 594, 325 (1995) [nucl-th/9505043].
- [8] N. Kaiser, T. Waas and W. Weise, Nucl. Phys. A 612, 297 (1997) [hep-ph/9607459].
- [9] J. A. Oller and E. Oset, Nucl. Phys. A 620, 438 (1997) [Erratum-ibid. A 652, 407 (1999)] [hep-ph/9702314].
- [10] N. Kaiser, Eur. Phys. J. A **3**, 307 (1998).
- [11] J. A. Oller, E. Oset and J. R. Pelaez, Phys. Rev. D 59, 074001 (1999) [Erratum-ibid. D 60, 099906 (1999)] [Erratum-ibid. D 75, 099903 (2007)] [hep-ph/9804209].
- [12] E. Oset and A. Ramos, Nucl. Phys. A 635, 99 (1998) [nucl-th/9711022].
- [13] J. A. Oller and U. G. Meissner, Phys. Lett. B 500, 263 (2001) [hep-ph/0011146].
- [14] D. Jido, A. Hosaka, J. C. Nacher, E. Oset and A. Ramos, Phys. Rev. C 66, 025203 (2002) [hep-ph/0203248].
- [15] C. Garcia-Recio, J. Nieves, E. Ruiz Arriola and M. J. Vicente Vacas, Phys. Rev. D 67, 076009 (2003) [hep-ph/0210311].
- [16] D. Jido, J. A. Oller, E. Oset, A. Ramos and U. G. Meissner, Nucl. Phys. A 725, 181 (2003) [nucl-th/0303062].
- [17] C. Garcia-Recio, J. Nieves and L. L. Salcedo, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 034025.
- [18] T. Hyodo, S. I. Nam, D. Jido and A. Hosaka, Phys. Rev. C 68, 018201 (2003) .
- [19] J. A. Oller, E. Oset and A. Ramos, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 45, 157 (2000) [hep-ph/0002193].
- [20] A. Martinez Torres, K. P. Khemchandani and E. Oset, Phys. Rev. C 77, 042203 (2008) [arXiv:0706.2330 [nucl-th]].
- [21] K. P. Khemchandani, A. Martinez Torres and E. Oset, Eur. Phys. J. A 37, 233 (2008) [arXiv:0804.4670 [nucl-th]].

- [22] J. -J. Xie, A. Martinez Torres, E. Oset and P. Gonzalez, Phys. Rev. C 83, 055204 (2011) [arXiv:1101.1722 [nucl-th]].
- [23] A. Martinez Torres, K. P. Khemchandani, L. S. Geng, M. Napsuciale and E. Oset, Phys. Rev. D 78, 074031 (2008) [arXiv:0801.3635 [nucl-th]].
- [24] A. Martinez Torres, D. Jido and Y. Kanada-En'yo, Phys. Rev. C 83, 065205 (2011) [arXiv:1102.1505 [nucl-th]].
- [25] S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. **137**, B672-B678 (1965).
- [26] C. Hanhart, Yu. S. Kalashnikova and A. V. Nefediev, Phys. Rev. D 81, 094028 (2010) [arXiv:1002.4097 [hep-ph]].
- [27] V. Baru, J. Haidenbauer, C. Hanhart, Yu. Kalashnikova, A. E. Kudryavtsev, Phys. Lett. B586, 53-61 (2004).
- [28] D. Gamermann, J. Nieves, E. Oset and E. Ruiz Arriola, Phys. Rev. D 81, 014029 (2010) [arXiv:0911.4407 [hep-ph]].
- [29] T. Hyodo, D. Jido and A. Hosaka, Phys. Rev. C 85, 015201 (2012) [arXiv:1108.5524 [nucl-th]].
- [30] J. Yamagata-Sekihara, J. Nieves and E. Oset, Phys. Rev. D 83, 014003 (2011) [arXiv:1007.3923 [hep-ph]].
- [31] J. R. Pelaez, Phys. Rev. Lett. **92**, 102001 (2004) [hep-ph/0309292].
- [32] J. R. Pelaez and G. Rios, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 242002 (2006) [hep-ph/0610397].
- [33] J. Nieves and E. Ruiz Arriola, Phys. Rev. D 80, 045023 (2009) [arXiv:0904.4344 [hep-ph]].
- [34] J. A. Oller, E. Oset and J. E. Palomar, Phys. Rev. D 63, 114009 (2001) [hep-ph/0011096].
- [35] M. Doring and U. G. Meissner, JHEP 1201, 009 (2012) [arXiv:1111.0616 [hep-lat]].
- [36] S. Theberge, A. W. Thomas and G. A. Miller, Phys. Rev. D 22, 2838 (1980) [Erratum-ibid. D 23, 2106 (1981)].
- [37] L. Castillejo, R. H. Dalitz and F. J. Dyson, Phys. Rev. 101, 453 (1956).
- [38] J. A. Oller and E. Oset, Phys. Rev. D 60, 074023 (1999) [hep-ph/9809337].
- [39] Hua-Xing Chen and E. Oset, [arXiv:1202.2787v2 [hep-lat]] (2012).
- [40] R. Garcia-Martin, R. Kaminski, J. R. Pelaez, J. Ruiz de Elvira, and F. J. Yndurain, Phys. Rev. D 83, 074004 (2011) [hep-ph/1102.2183].